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HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION 

AUGUST 27, 2018 
DEMOLITION AND RELOCATION PERMITS 

HDP-2018-0362 
507 W. 10TH STREET 

 
PROPOSAL 

Demolish a ca. 1912 house. 
 
ARCHITECTURE 

Two-and-a-half story rectangular-plan, hipped-roof frame house with a projecting one-story 
front-bay with a shallow gabled roof, and a partial-width wraparound porch on plain wood 
columns around the northeast corner of the house; single 1:1 fenestration with a diamond-
shaped fixed-sash window to the left of the front door, and in the middle of the second story 
of the west elevation; single-sash windows in the projecting front-gabled bay and in the left 
bay of the façade with lozenge-shaped muntins and mullions; the front door is framed with 
sidelights and has a transom, both with the same lozenge-shaped muntins and mullions as 
the front windows; hipped-roof attic dormer in the center of the principal façade; projecting  
bay on the first story of the west elevation. 
RESEARCH 

The house appears to have been built around 1912.  There was an earlier one-story house 
on this site that is shown on the 1900 Sanborn map, but was removed for the construction 
of this house.  The first owners and occupants were Robert F. and Ella Bacon, who lived 
here until their deaths: Ella in 1968 and Robert in 1969.  Robert F. Bacon was a plumber 
who later headed up the Austin Chamber of Commerce and the Retail Merchants’ 
Association.  Robert and Ella’s wedding anniversaries were the talk of the newspapers in 
the 1950s and 1960s, with each anniversary noted with a full feature story. 
STAFF COMMENTS 

The house was listed as a Priority 1 for research in the Comprehensive Cultural Resources 
Survey (1984). 
Staff has evaluated this house for designation as a historic landmark and has determined 
that the house does not meet the criteria for landmark designation as set forth in City 
Code: 

a. Architecture. The house is a frame vernacular house with references to the 
American Foursquare style, except for the projecting front bay and 
wraparound porch.  There are a number of similar houses in Austin, although 
this appears to have more decorative embellishments than most.  However, 
staff does not believe that it strongly meets the criterion for architectural 
significance. 

b. Historical association. The house was owned and occupied by Robert F. and 
Ella Bacon from the time of its construction around 1912 until they passed 
away in the late 1960s.  Robert Bacon was the first master plumber in 
Austin, and had a very successful plumbing business here for many years; he 
was also a business leader and presided over the Austin Chamber of 
Commerce and Retail Merchants’ Association in the 1950s.  And while the 
Bacons were the subject of numerous feature stories in the local paper for 
their anniversaries, staff does not believe that there are historical 
associations significant enough to warrant individual designation as a 
historic landmark. 
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c. Archaeology. The house was not evaluated for its potential to yield significant 

data concerning the human history or prehistory of the region. 
d. Community value. The house does not possess a unique location, physical 

characteristic, or significant feature that contributes to the character, image, 
or cultural identity of the city, the neighborhood, or a particular demographic 
group. 

e. Landscape feature. The property is not a significant natural or designed 
landscape with artistic, aesthetic, cultural, or historical value to the city. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Encourage rehabilitation and adaptive re-use, then relocation over demolition, but release 
the permit upon completion of a City of Austin Documentation Package, consisting of 
photographs of all elevations, a dimensioned sketch plan, and a narrative history, for 
archiving at the Austin History Center.  The house does not meet the criteria for individual 
designation as a historic landmark. 



 D.5 - 3 
LOCATION MAP 
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507 W. 10th Street 
ca. 1912 
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Detail of decorative upper sashes in the front windows, the sidelights, and transom 

 
OCCUPANCY HISTORY 

507 W. 10th Street 
 
City Directory Research, Austin History Center 
By City Historic Preservation Office 
December, 2013 
 
1992  Robert J. Kuhn, lawyer 
  John C. Kuhn, lawyer 
  Jay D. Doyle, lawyer 
 
1985-86 Robert J. Kuhn, lawyer 
  Bud Huckabee and Associates, investigators 
 
1981  Robert J. Kuhn and Associates, lawyers 
  Bud Huckabee and Associates, investigators 
 
1977  Kuhn, Collins & Rash, attorneys 
  Robert J. Kuhn, warren Collins, and Ralph Rash, partners 
 
1973  Robert J. Kuhn, lawyer 
 
1968  Robert F. Bacon, owner 
  Proprietor, PWF Plumbing Supplies (not listed in the directory). 
 
1962  Robert F. and Ella L. Bacon, owners 
  Proprietor, Bacon’s Plumbing, 907 Nueces Street. 
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1959  Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 
  Proprietor, Bacon’s Plumbing, 907 Nueces Street. 
 
1955  Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 
  Proprietor, PWF Plumbing Shop, 907 Nueces Street. 
 
1952  Robert F. and Ella L. Bacon, owners 
  No occupation listed 

Also listed is Gerald E. Bacon, a proprietor (with Newton C. Bacon), of Bacon 
and Gilbert Electrical Service, rear 1003 E. 52nd Street. 

 
1949  Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 
  No occupation listed 
  Also listed is Gerald Bacon, no occupation stated. 
 
1947  Robert F. and Ella L. Bacon, owners 
  Plumber 
 
1944-45 R. Francis and Ella Bacon, owners 
  No occupation listed 
 
1941  Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 

Proprietor (with Gerald H. Bacon), Bacon’s 2-in-1 Service, plumbers, 907 Nueces 
Street. 

 
1939  Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 

Proprietor (with Gerald H. Bacon), Bacon’s 2-in-1 Service, plumbers, 907 Nueces 
Street. 
 

1937  Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 
Proprietor (with Gerald H. Bacon), Bacon’s 2-in-1 Service, plumbers, 907 Nueces 
Street. 

 
1935  Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 

Proprietor (with Gerald H. Bacon), Bacon’s 2-in-1 Service, plumbers and 
electricians, 907 Nueces Street. 

 
1932-33 Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 

Proprietor (with Gerald H. Bacon), Bacon’s 2-in-1 Service, plumbers, 907 Nueces 
Street. 

 
1930-31 Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 

Proprietor (with Gerald H. Bacon), Bacon’s 2-in-1 Service, plumbers, 907 Nueces 
Street. 

 
1929  Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 

Proprietor, Bacon’s Inc., plumbing and electrical contractors, 409 W. 6th Street. 
 NOTE:  Gerald Bacon was the secretary of Bacon’s Inc. 

 
1927  Robert F. and Ella B. Bacon, owners 

Proprietor (with Miss M.E. Plumb), Austin Bird Ranch, dealers of imported and 
domestic canaries, 409 W. 6th Street; and proprietor, Bacon’s Plumbing and 
Electrical, contractors, 409 W. 6th Street. 
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1924  Robert F. and Ella Bacon, owners 

Proprietor (with Gerald H. Bacon), Bacon’s, plumbing and electrical contractors 
and supplies, 409 W. 6th Street. 

 
1922  Robert F. and Ella B. Bacon, owners 
  Plumbing and electrical contractor, 205 W. 6th Street. 
 
1920  Robert F. and Ella B. Bacon, owners 
  Plumbing and electrical contractor, 205 W. 6th Street. 

Also listed are Gerald H. Bacon, with R.F. Bacon; and Marjorie Bacon, no 
occupation stated. 

 
1918  Robert F. and Ella B. Bacon, owners 
  Plumbing and electrical contractor, 205 W. 6th Street. 
 
1916  Robert F. Bacon 
  Plumbing and electrical contractor, 205 W. 6th Street. 
 
1914  Robert F. Bacon 
  Plumbing and electrical contractor, 205 W. 6th Street. 
 
1912-13 Robert F. Bacon 
  Plumbing and electrical contractor, 205 W. 6th Street. 
 
Staff believes the current house dates from ca. 1912.  There was an earlier house on this site, 
which is shown on the 1900 Sanborn map – it was a one-story house addressed as 507 W. 10th 
Street, but there was also a combination store and residence in a building to the west of that 
house, addressed as 509 W. 10th Street.  Directories prior to the edition of 1912-13 reference 
both 507 and 509 W. 10th Street addresses.  The address of 509 W. 10th Street does not appear 
in any city directory after that of 1910-11. 
 
NOTE:  The 1910-11 directory shows Robert F. Bacon living at 1705 E. 12th Street.  He was the 
proprietor of Bacon & Hancock, plumbers, gas and steam fitters, and electricians, 909 Congress 
Avenue. 
 
BIOGRAPHICAL NOTES 
Robert F. and Ella Bacon (ca. 1912 – ca. 1969) 
Robert F. and Ella Bacon appear in the 1900 U.S. Census at 1705 E. 12th Street.  Robert Bacon 
was then 26, had been born in Texas, and was a plumber.  Ella Bacon was also 26 and had 
been born in Texas.  She had no occupation listed.  They had a son, Gerald, 4, who had been 
born in Texas.  They owned their house on 12th Street.  The 1910 U.S. Census shows the 
Bacon family at the same address; Robert Bacon was a plumber with his own shop.  In addition 
to Gerald, who was now 14, they had a daughter, Marjorie, 6. 
 
The 1920 U.S. Census shows the Bacon family at this house, which they owned.  Robert F. 
Bacon was a plumbing contractor; Gerald Bacon was an electrician.  Neither Ella nor Marjorie 
had occupations listed.  By 1930, just Robert and Ella, both of whom were then 56, lived here; 
the house was worth $8,000.  Robert is listed as a plumbing contractor. 
 
The 1940 U.S. Census shows Robert and Ella Bacon at this address; the house was worth 
$5,000.  Both Robert and Ella were 66; he was a plumbing and electrical contractor.  They had 
a lodger, Mildred Newman, 25, a Texas-born laundry worker who had lived in Dayton, Texas in 
1935. 
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Story on the marriage of Robert and Ella Bacon 

Austin American-Statesman, June 20, 1954 
 
 
 

 
Anniversary dinner for Robert F. and Ella Bacon 

Austin Statesman, June 20, 1957 
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Story on the family of Robert F. and Ella Bacon 

Austin American-Statesman, June 15, 1958 
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News story on the 71st anniversary of Robert F. and Ella Bacon 

Austin American-Statesman, June 20, 1965  
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Obituary of Gerald H. Bacon, the son of Robert and Ella Bacon 

Austin American-Statesman, April 26, 1959 
 

 
Obituary of Ella Bacon 

Austin American, May 15, 1968 
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Obituary and funeral notice for Ella Bacon 
Austin Statesman, May 15 1968 

 
 

 
Funeral notice for Ella Bacon 

Austin American, May 16, 1968 
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Obituary of Robert F. Bacon 

Austin American, March 6, 1969 
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Obituary and funeral notice for Robert F. Bacon 

Austin Statesman, March 6, 1969 
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Water service permit from 1930 for this address 
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The 1900 Sanborn map shows a one-story house with a full-width front porch on the site of the 
current house.  There is a long-narrow store building to the west of this house, addressed as 
509 W. 10th Street. 
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The 1935 Sanborn map shows the existing house – a 2-story house with a projecting bay 
(although this is shown on the east elevation, when the physical evidence today shows this bay 
on the west (Nueces Street) elevation, and a one-story wraparound porch at the northeast 
corner of the house.  This configuration, as well as the placement of the house on the lot, differs 
significantly from the building shown on the 1900 map above, leading to the conclusion that the 
house shown on the 1900 map was demolished and this house built in its place between 1900 
and 1935. 
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The 1961 Sanborn map shows the same configuration as the 1935 map above for house, with 

no correction to the location of the projecting bay on the side of the house.  This map also 
shows the current one-story side building on Nueces Street that currently functions as a bail 

bond office. 
 
 

 


